1959

James L. Barker, Jr. v. George R. Dunham and Leoda Dunham : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The plaintiff, as trustee in the voluntary bankruptcy of the defendant, George Ray Dunham, brought this action in behalf of the only two creditors named in the bankrupt's petition to have a certain conveyance of real property from the voluntary bankrupt to his defendant wife, set aside as a fraudulent conveyance made with intent to hinder, delay and defraud said creditors.

From an adverse judgment of the Court below, sitting without a jury, plaintiff brings his case to this Honorable Court on appeal.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

As a result of an automobile accident which occurred on November 8, 1953, judgments were entered against the defendant, George R. Dunham in favor of Fred B. Garrett and Bruce R. Sizemore in the sum of \$51,840.00, plus costs, in the District Court of Summit County, State of Utah, on September 10, 1954 (R. 9, 10, 28, 65). La Mar Duncan served as counsel for the defendant, George R. Dunham, during the entire course of this litigation (Tr. 33, 34). Nineteen days following this automobile accident, in which the defendant, George R. Dunham, was seriously injured and hospitalized, there was recorded in the office of the County Recorder of Summit County, a warranty deed dated upon its face, November 1, 1952, and purporting to have been acknowledged before La Mar Duncan on that same date, conveying all of defendant George R. Dunham's interest in and to certain real property located in Summit County, Utah, to his wife, the defendant Leoda S. Dunham (R. 10, 28, 118, 119, Tr. 26, 51). This property had been conveyed to GEORGE R. DUNHAM AND LEODA S. DUNHAM, HIS WIFE, AS JOINT TENANTS WITH FULL RIGHTS OF SURVIVORSHIP, AND NOT AS TENANTS IN COMMON, by warranty deed dated January 6, 1951, from Carrie N. Kirkpatrick, which was recorded January 12, 1951 (R. 94). The deed from George R. Dunham to his wife did not

include improvements and waters rights as are contained in the deed from Carrie N. Kirkpatrick to the defendants as joint tenants (See Plaintiff's exhibits No. 1 and No. 13, R. 94, 118, 119). The defendants' own testimony indicates that the property was originally sold in 1944 by Carrie N. Kirkpatrick upon contract to George R. Dunham alone (Tr. 16-17, 21, 60, 64-67, 77).

Subsequent to November 1, 1952, claimed by defendants to be the date of execution and delivery of the deed from the defendant husband to his wife, and prior to November 8, 1953, the date of the automobile accident which resulted in the judgments against Mr. Dunham, the defendants conveyed eight separate parcels of the land acquired from Carrie N. Kirkpatrick and each such deed showed the grantors to be GEORGE R. DUNHAM AND LEODA S. DUNHAM, HIS WIFE. (See plaintiff's exhibits Numbers 2-9, inclusive, R. 96-111). On October 22, 1953, just seventeen days before the automobile accident referred to above, there was recorded at the request of George R. Dunham, a subdivision plat of Kamp Killkare, being a portion of the land conveyed to the defendants by Carrie N. Kirkpatrick. (See plaintiff's exhibit No. 12, R. 116-117, as further explained by the County Recorder in Tr. 128-130). And on October 26, 1953, just thirteen days before the accident, a mortgage was negotiated on the subject property with GEORGE R. DUNHAM AND LEODA S. DUNHAM, HIS WIFE, named as mortgagors. (See plaintiff's exhibit No. 15, R. 123-125). Following the automobile accident on November 8, 1953, and the recording of the deed from Mr. Dunham to his wife on November 27, 1953, the manner of conveying and en-

cumbering the land was radically changed by defendants. Thus a mortgage to Kamas State Bank, executed on April 12, 1954, designating the mortgagors as LEODA S. DUNHAM AND GEORGE R. DUNHAM, HER HUSBAND, was signed by Mrs. Dunham only. (See plaintiff's exhibit No. 14, R. 120-122). In addition warranty deeds of small parcels of land sold to Roy M. Thornton and Anna Ruth Thornton, his wife, in February 1, 1954, and to Harold Sanders and Edith Sanders, his wife, in June 21, 1954, were executed solely by Mrs. Dunham. (See Plaintiff's exhibits No. 10 and 11, R. 112-115).

It is undisputed that no consideration or payment was given to defendant George R. Dunham by his wife for the transfer of title into her name only and that said George R. Dunham owned no property after the delivery of the Deed conveying his interest to his wife. (Pre-trial Order, Sections 2 (c) and (d), R. 52). Defendant Leoda S. Dunham testified that her husband had not been employed, other than helping her, since 1951 (Tr. 78). She also testified that she did not pay him a salary or give him an allowance for his services (Tr. 79). However, at the purported time of executing the deed conveying his interest to his wife Mr. Dunham was obligated on a note secured by a mortgage to the Coalville Bank (Tr. 74-75, 141). He thereafter obligated himself on another note secured by a mortgage to the Kamas State Bank on October 26, 1953. (See plaintiff's exhibit No. 15, R. 123-125).

Mrs. Dunham further testified that she gave her husband full authority to handle the management of the sale of lots upon the property because of her lack of knowledge in

real estate matters (Tr. 66, 139). She further testified that her husband lived upon the property and that she allowed him to tell other people that he owned the property (Tr. 78-79). The testimony of Herbert Frank Heinhold, who was one of the purchasers of the lot from the defendants on August 3, 1953, shortly before the automobile accident, further emphasizes the fact that Mr. Dunham exercised all the power of an owner over this property by showing it to prospective purchasers and accepting payment upon consummated sales without limitation by his wife (Tr. 112-115).

On August 17, 1956, the defendant George R. Dunham filed his voluntary petition in bankruptcy, No. B-279-56, with the United States District Court for the Central District of Utah, naming as his only creditors Fred B. Garrett and Bruce R. Sizemore, and on August 22, 1956, he was duly adjudged a bankrupt in said proceedings and on September 12, 1956, the plaintiff was appointed trustee of the bankrupt's estate for the benefit of creditors. (See paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of plaintiff's amended complaint admitted in paragraphs 1, 2 and 3 of the fourth defense in defendant's answer, R. 9, 28).

The evidence in support of the defendants' contention that the deed in question did not constitute a fraudulent conveyance is conflicting and manifestly inconsistent. Mr. Dunham testified that the property was originally purchased with his wife's own money, because he drank up all he made but he could not explain why the purchase contract was originally put in his own name alone (Tr. 23). He also testified that he "partially" negotiated the sale with Mrs.

Kirkpatrick (Tr. 22). As to the date and place of execution of the deed in question, Mr. Dunham testified as follows, at page 26-27 of the transcript:

"Q. Is that your signature at the bottom, Mr. Dunham?

"A. It looks like it. You bet. It must be.

"Q. That is your signature?

"A. Yes.

"Q. Where did you write that signature?

"A. *I don't remember.*

"Q. Were you in the hospital at the time, Mr. Dunham?

"A. *I wouldn't—I can't remember when that was signed.*

"Q. Did Mr. Duncan prepare this deed and bring it to you, Mr. Dunham, at the hospital?

"A. *I don't remember if anybody brought it to me, but that is my signature. I don't know where it was executed. I don't know where it was signed because I don't remember.*

"Q. Now, Mr. Dunham, isn't it true that Mr. Duncan brought this to you in November of 1953 when you were in the Veterans Hospital after the accident that you had when you injured yourself and Mr. Sizemore and Mr. Garrett?

"Mr. Pratt: If the court please, I will object to that question. I think it is an attempt to vary this document which he's introduced as an exhibit and which is dated November 1, 1952, and acknowledged.

"THE COURT: The objection is overruled.

"Q. Isn't that the place and the time that you signed this document when you were in fear of your life because of that accident?

"A. *It could be very well.*

"MR. PRATT: Now, if the court please, which time are we talking about? Are we talking about the time on the deed or some other time?

"MR. CASSITY: I am talking about the time that I stated. It is very clear.

"THE COURT: You don't need to argue with counsel or explain to him.

"Q. Do you remember whether anyone aside from yourself and Mr. Duncan was present at the time you signed this deed?

"A. I don't even remember when I signed it."
(Emphasis added.)

Mrs. Dunham testified that she and her husband were working as cooks for the Union Pacific Railroad when the property was purchased from Mrs. Kirkpatrick (Tr. 52-53) and that Mr. Dunham did not work for anyone else during the periods of time they operated the beer tavern after purchasing it (Tr. 54). She testified that she earned a little under two hundred dollars per month and her husband earned about two hundred twenty-five dollars per month while working for the railroad (Tr. 91) and that she had received seven hundred dollars back pay and her husband had received eight hundred dollars back pay from the railroad just prior to purchasing the property from Mrs. Kirkpatrick (Tr. 63, 131-132). She also testified that her husband was drinking away all his income at this time and was inebriated very often *but that he never missed his work on*

the railroad (Tr. 55-57). Furthermore, she did not deny that the original purchase contract was made in the name of her husband alone (Tr. 64-67). With respect to the execution of the deed from her husband to herself, thus ending their joint tenancy, Mrs. Dunham testified that Mr. Dunham's illness prompted this action (Tr. 68) and that she and her husband consulted La Mar Duncan, an attorney, to prepare the deed (Tr. 68-69). However, in dealing with prospective purchasers of lots at arm's length, both before and after the purported date of execution of the questioned deed, Mrs. Dunham testified that the defendants never consulted an attorney to prepare the necessary deeds which, by their nature, required new legal descriptions (Tr. 69-71). And, although the defendants were allegedly anxious enough about effecting a change of ownership that they sought out an attorney in Salt Lake City, Utah, to prepare the deed for them, they were not concerned with having it recorded (Tr. 72). Instead, the deed was purportedly placed in a steel box in Mrs. Dunham's bedroom and removed for recordation only after Mr. Dunham's automobile accident (Tr. 72-73). Furthermore, Mrs. Dunham testified that the deed was dated and acknowledged as shown upon its face, but admitted that she never represented herself to be the sole owner to prospective purchasers following that date (Tr. 76-77). Among the many Freudian "slips" evidencing common and accepted concepts of ownership and contributions and long, established matters of fact in the minds of the defendants concerning the property in question, plaintiff cites the following as illustrative:

1. When asked at what time the defendants left the railroad and moved into the property in question, Mr. Dunham answered as follows at page 18 of the transcript:

“A. Well, I think we—I don’t remember, but we made the first—she made the first letter and the first—sent the first money to Mrs. Kirkpatrick I think and had the property. I don’t know. It has been too long ago for me to remember.”

2. In response to a question concerning her husband’s drinking habits on page 55 of the transcript, Mrs. Dunham answered as follows:

“A. Did you mean in the earlier part of our marriage, or did you mean *after we negotiated for the property?*” (Emphasis added.)

3. In answer to a question as to when the property was originally purchased, Mrs. Dunham answered thusly at page 60 of the transcript:

“A. Well, we—I think I sent a retainer—. I’m not exactly sure—I think I sent a retainer fee to sort of hold it, don’t you see, until we got there, and I think I finished paying for it the day I moved in, if I am not mistaken. I don’t recall exactly, but it seems to me that that was the way it was.”

And again on the same page when asked how much time elapsed from sending the retainer to Mrs. Kirkpatrick before the defendants moved into the property, Mrs. Dunham stated:

“A. Well, I wouldn’t know exactly because it was springtime—it was early spring when we—when I negotiated with Mrs. Kirkpatrick, and it was May when I moved in.”

4. Again, at page 63 of the transcript, in answer to a question concerning when the balance of the down payment was made to Mrs. Kirkpatrick, Mrs. Dunham testified:

“A. The balance of that payment should have been made by May 1, when we took—when I took occupancy.”

Insofar as La Mar Duncan's testimony is concerned, he stated positively that the instrument was executed and acknowledged upon the dates shown on its face (Tr. 30-33). Thus Mr. Duncan could recall vividly the date that he acknowledged a deed in a routine matter, but he thereafter could not remember, and in fact, denied, signing stipulated judgments against his client, Mr. Dunham, in excess of fifty thousand dollars as a result of the actions that arose from the automobile accident (Tr. 34-35). However, upon being shown the stipulated judgments in the trial records of the cases involved, he then remembered signing them (Tr. 37-38). The court then sustained an objection by defendant's counsel to the evidence concerning the stipulations upon the ground that plaintiff's counsel had delayed Mr. Duncan's testimony 30 minutes because of stipulations claimed by plaintiff to be on the way to the court when in fact they were available to plaintiff all the time and for the further reason that this constituted impeachment of plaintiff's own witness (Tr. 38-39). The court thereafter refused plaintiff's counsel an opportunity to explain that affidavits actually on the way from Salt Lake City were the basis of counsel's request for delay in Mr. Duncan's testimony and not the stipulations produced. (Tr. 7, 28, 38, 41, and see

affidavit of Donn E. Cassity filed with the motion for new trial, R. 72-75).

Mr. Lefler of the Kamas State Bank testified on direct examination directly opposite to Mrs. Dunham in that he claimed she was the spokesman and handled all transactions concerning this property (Tr. 93) which is at variance with the statements of Mrs. Dunham (Tr. 66, 139). He claimed he was aware of the deed from Mr. Dunham to Mrs. Dunham when the first mortgage with his bank was obtained in late 1953, but that the bank required the signatures of both parties to the mortgage to conform to the county records (Tr. 93-95). On cross examination he stated that, although he had heard of the deed in question, he never saw it until it was recorded (Tr. 98-99).

The testimony of defendants' witness, Leland L. Layton, is most revealing. Upon direct examination, when asked of his knowledge concerning the execution of a deed from Mr. Dunham to Mrs. Dunham, he answered as follows, at page 144 of the transcript:

"A. I am referring to the deed of where George put the property fully into Leoda's name. That is the deed that I was going to give an answer to. In 1953, the early part of 1953, George and I was out fishing at one time, and it was after his sickness at Coalville. He told me that *he was going to put* all of the property into Leoda's name." (Emphasis added).

Upon cross examination he stated that this statement was made to him by Mr. Dunham in September or October after he purchased his first lot, which was August 5, 1953 (Tr. 146-147). Again upon redirect examination concern-

ing his knowledge of the deed in question, the witness responded as follows, at page 148 of the transcript:

“Q. Had you had conversations with Mr. Dunham prior to that time? You mentioned that you had knowledge of a deed or something. Now, is the deed —

“THE COURT: I don’t know—I’m not sure he’s said that he had any knowledge. He just told me that Mr. Dunham said he was going to put that property—going to put all his property in his wife’s name.

“A. The first—if I may, *the first knowledge that I ever had of any deed was the day that George Dunham told me he was having a deed drawn up throwing all the property to Leoda.*

“THE COURT: And that is the day you have told me about here?

“A. That was the day that—that’s the day that I told you about there.

“THE COURT: Some days when a man wishes he had stayed home in bed, aren’t there, Mr. Pratt?”

With respect to the testimony of Mr. Layton, as above set forth, the court opined as follows in granting the defendants judgment for no cause of action, at page 155 of the transcript:

“THE COURT: I have to ignore what Mr. Layton said there. Either he didn’t understand, or else it was a man that doesn’t have anything and still trying to impress somebody to make him think he’s got it, or else he is in error on the date, or else he wanted to help and didn’t know how. That was my impression, that Mr. Layton was trying to help his friends and didn’t know how. The defendants may have judgment for no cause of action.”

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE JUDGMENT OF THE LOWER COURT IS CONTRARY TO THE LAW AND THE EVIDENCE.

POINT II

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN MAKING AND ENTERING ITS FINDINGS OF FACT NUMBERED 4, 5 AND 7 FOR THE REASON THAT SUCH FINDINGS OF FACT ARE CONTRARY TO THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE AND CONTRARY TO LAW.

POINT III

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN MAKING AND ENTERING ITS CONCLUSIONS OF LAW FOR THE REASONS THAT THERE WAS NOT SUFFICIENT COMPETENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT OR WARRANT SUCH CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND SUCH CONCLUSIONS OF LAW ARE CONTRARY TO THE LAW PERTAINING TO FRAUDULENT CONVEYANCES AND DELIVERY OF DEEDS.

POINT IV

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN GRANTING DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO STRIKE THE

TESTIMONY OF LA MAR DUNCAN PERTAIN-
ING TO STIPULATED JUDGMENTS EN-
TERED IN THE CIVIL CASES BROUGHT BY
BRUCE R. SIZEMORE AND FRED B. GAR-
RETT AGAINST THE DEFENDANT GEORGE
R. DUNHAM WHILE MR. DUNCAN WAS AT-
TORNEY FOR SAID DEFENDANT.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE JUDGMENT OF THE LOWER COURT IS
CONTRARY TO THE LAW AND THE EVI-
DENCE.

By its very nature fraud, and the proof thereof, lies most conveniently nestled in the bosoms of those who are participants therein. The process of dislodging the truth from those nefarious hearts involves such ingenious deviation as to make the odds of success most prohibitive. Such has been the task of the plaintiff in this case. In this regard it will be noted that the plaintiff's entire case necessarily rested upon the evidence to be adduced from the defendants and those in close confidential relationship with the defendants, except for matters of public record. However, the seeds of fraud bear the tell-tale fruit of original sin as the facts of this case most eloquently display.

There can be no argument that if the deed in question was actually executed after the date of the accident which gave rise to the creditors' claims against Mr. Dunham, it

would be fraudulent and void as to such creditors. An actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud, as would be shown by the falsification of the dates of execution and acknowledgment of the deed involved in this case, would stamp this conveyance as fraudulent against the grantor's creditors even if the conveyance had been supported by a valuable consideration. Pomeroy's Equity Jurisprudence, Fifth Edition, § 971; Sections 25-1-7 and 25-1-8, U. C. A. 1953.

Let us now view the evidence with respect to the actual date of execution and acknowledgment of the deed in question. Upon its face it is dated November 1, 1952, and acknowledged the same date by the attorney who subsequently defended Mr. Dunham in the actions arising from the automobile accident on November 8, 1953. The date of recordation of this deed is most significant—November 27, 1953, nineteen days following the accident. Between November 1, 1952, the purported date of the deed, and November 8, 1953, the date of the accident, no less than eight conveyances of land were made by the defendants showing *George R. Dunham and Leoda S. Dunham, his wife*, as grantors. During this same period of time, a subdivision plat of the land was recorded at the request of *George R. Dunham* and a new mortgage was negotiated upon the property naming *George R. Dunham and Leoda S. Dunham, his wife*, as mortgagors. Not one single instrument was executed during this time designating Leoda S. Dunham as the sole owner nor did any single instrument even infer that such might be the case. Not so following the date of the accident and recordation of the deed in question. The county records from this time forward clearly indicate that ownership was

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