1959

# James L. Barker, Jr. v. George R. Dunham and Leoda Dunham : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

### ARGUMENT

It is apparent that Appellant is contending that the trial court has made Findings and Conclusions contrary

to the evidence. However, Appellant does not point out any specific deficiencies in the evidence, but merely disagrees with the inferences and conclusions arrived at by the trial court based upon the evidence of the case. From the evidence Appellant draws his own inferences, contrary to those of the trial court, and seeks to have this Court affirm him in his beliefs. The brief is not so much one seeking redress of error in law, but one seeking retrial of the fact issues. Appellant's theory and argument in support thereof herein presented is patently contrary to the many rulings of this Court, some of which are hereinafter cited.

The following quotation from *Parrish v. Tahtaras*, 7 Utah 2d 87 is representative of the applicable rule of law:

"Since the court made findings and entered judgment based thereon, it is our duty to review the evidence in a light most favorable to the findings. In reciting the facts, therefore, we state them as found by the trial court so long as the record shows some competent evidence from which said findings could derive."

Again, as has been stated in *Rummell v. Bailey*, 7 Utah 2d 137:

"The rule of review of issues of fact is that all of the evidence and every inference and intent fairly arising therefrom should be taken in light most favorable to the finding made by the trial court. And if when so viewed there is substantial support in the evidence for the finding made, it will not be disturbed."



Other cases upholding this same principle are *McCollum v. Clothier* (Utah) 241 Pac. 2d 465; *Lawrence v. Bamberger Railroad Company*, 3 Utah 2d 247; *Fleming v. Fleming-Felt Company*, 7 Utah 2d 293; and, *Buehner Block Company v. Glezos*, 6 Utah 2d 226.

Appellant raises no questions of law in his brief, but rather attempts to construe the facts and the inferences arising therefrom according to his own theory of fraud. It must be recognized that from any fact situation, there might possibly be more than one inference. However, to have this Court now set aside the trial court's Findings, would be to hold that no reasonable minds would arrive at the same conclusions as did the trial court. Such a holding would appear unlikely under the evidence adduced at the trial.

#### POINT NO. I

#### THE FINDINGS OF THE TRIAL COURT ARE SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE.

Appellant's Point No. I is general in nature and does not pin point any particular reversible error committed by the trial court, but merely makes an all inclusive charge as to the insufficiency of the evidence. However, as one reads through the entire brief, it becomes apparent, that appellant's entire appeal is based upon his disagreement with the trial court's inferences and conclusions derived from the evidence adduced at the trial. It is not a question of the insufficiency of the evidence as a matter of law. This is graphically demonstrated on pages 14 through 18, wherein appellant attempts to disprove the execution of the deed by parading before this court cer-

tain "badges of fraud." These badges are fraudulent, only because appellant makes such an inference from the facts. His own inferences then, are used by appellant to disprove uncontradicted evidence of the execution of the deed.

A. THE DEED WAS EXECUTED NOVEMBER 1, 1952.

Under the Pre-Trial Order and at the trial, the appellant first had to prove that the deed was not executed on November 1, 1952. Appellant's own witness, LaMar Duncan, as well as Mrs. Leoda Dunham and Thomas Lefler, all testified unequivocally that the deed was so executed, acknowledged and delivered on November 1, 1952. The evidence further showed without contradiction that the deed was given to Leoda because of George's serious heart attacks, and that the description was taken from a Tax Notice (R. 30-34, 94, 95, 102-105, 108, 134-137, 139).

Now, in this appeal, appellant wants this court to overrule the trial court's finding that said deed was so executed, by holding that there was no reasonable evidence to support such a finding, and because the inferences appellant draws from the badges of fraud completely overwhelm said uncontradicted evidence. An examination hereinafter of the so-called badges of fraud very clearly shows the reasonable basis of the trial court's findings. This examination also shows that the only basis for appellant's position is his attempt to impute dishonesty to attorney LaMar Duncan and to Mrs. Dunham, which accusations are as unfounded as are the appellant's general claims of "fraudulent intent" found throughout the brief.

## 1. GEORGE'S ASSERTION OF TITLE.

Mrs. Dunham negotiated and dealt with the Kamas State Bank regarding the various deeds, releases of mortgage, sales and application of the sales proceeds, all in connection with the various transactions involving sales of portions of the Property (R. 89, 92-102). There is no doubt but what George talked with proposed buyers and showed them around the property (R. 66). However, contrary to appellant's statement and after the deed was recorded, George Dunham did sign a deed (Ex. 11) and the mortgage (Ex. 11) was prepared by the bank for his signature (Ex. 14). One deed was executed by Leoda Dunham alone (Ex. 10). Mr. Lefler stated that the reason for the change in the form of the deed was that the bank's attorneys required the documents to be executed in accordance with the record title, and, of course, the record title would only have changed when the deed was recorded November 17, 1953 (R. 94-96, 139).

Other than the difference in the deed forms, prepared by the bank, the evidence shows no great change in the conduct of the parties after the deed was recorded as compared to prior thereto (R. 78-80). Leoda from first to last, paid for the property, managed the property, dealt with the bank and generally directed George in whatever he did either as handy man or as contacting people for the sale of lots. They lived together as husband and wife on the property all of the time. Can it be said that these facts show George's claim to ownership contrary to the lower Court's findings. I think not.

## 2. RECORDING PLAT.

Appellant makes a great deal out of the recordation of the subdivision plat. Plaintiff's witness, the County Recorder, however, testified that the mere fact that the stamp on the plat indicated that the document was recorded at the request of a person did not by any means indicate ownership (R. 130, 131). This is well understood by anyone who has recorded any documents in the County Recorder's Office.

## 3. PREPARATION OF DEED.

Is it really unusual, as argued by appellant, to have Mr. Duncan prepare the deed and to have the bank handle all of the other deeds wherein portions of the property were sold? Should not the bank prepare the deeds, handle the payments thereon, apply the payments to the bank's mortgage and make partial releases, all in connection with the bank's interest in the property under its mortgage (R. 89, 96, Ex. 15) and under an assignment of the lot sale proceeds?

## 4. CONTINUED POSSESSION OF PROPERTY.

Appellant claims that George Dunham retained possession after the execution of the deed. The record is clear that George lived at the tavern and worked on the property as a handy man from the time Camp Kilkare was purchased up to the present (R. ....). It would be unusual indeed, to require George to move away or to stop his work in order to negative fraud.

## 5. DEFENDANT'S CLAIMED ILLNESS.

Was the stroke suffered by George in October, 1952, merely a *claimed illness*, as is argued by appellant (R. 68, 135)? One only has to observe and talk with Mr. Dunham to understand his physical and mental capabilities, and the trial court had this opportunity of observation and appraisal. Should the respondents Dunham be expected to know the ramifications and legal consequences of joint tenancy, as is argued by appellant? Again, an observation of Mr. and Mrs. Dunham, their appearance, demeanor, personality, character and testimony would clearly answer this question (R. 68). Notwithstanding the trial court's appraisal of the parties, appellant now maintains that the lower court's opinion as to the parties' testimony is clearly erroneous, and, in effect, argues that the trial court should not have believed George and Leoda Dunham in their respective testimonies, and as a matter of fact, should not have believed any of the other witnesses, excepting as to testimony in favor of appellant.

## 6. THE ADEQUACY OF THE PROPERTY DESCRIPTION.

The description on the November 1, 1952 deed was given to Mr. Duncan by Mrs. Dunham from a Tax Notice (R. 71). Appellant surely realizes that the property description on a Tax Notice gives the absolute minimum by way of descriptive terms, and admittedly does not include water rights or other similar types of appurtenances. Appellant nevertheless argues that the use of the abbreviated description when compared with the original

description on the Kirkpatrick deed, which included water rights, graphically points up fraud on the part of the defendants.

#### 7. MR. LAYTON'S STATEMENT.

Again the trial court's interpretation of and reliance upon the testimony of a witness is challenged by appellant. Admittedly, Mr. Layton was not clear in pin pointing the date upon which Mr. Dunham informed him of the deed to Mrs. Dunham. At one point, Mr. Layton indicated his conversation was immediately following his acquisition of his first lot at Camp Kilkare, sometime in the Fall of 1953 (R. 147, 148). At another time, Mr. Layton indicated that this conversation was at least a year before the accident (R. 150). The latter testimony would be consistent with the date of the execution of the deed and the former testimony would be inconsistent. The trial court chose to disregard the inconsistency in the testimony (R. 155). Again appellant attempts to argue that the trial court had no right to either believe or disbelieve the testimony or portions of the testimony of the witness.

#### 8. GEORGE DUNHAM'S UNCERTAINTY.

Mr. Dunham was himself frank to admit that he could not recall the exact circumstances under which the deed was executed. Such uncertainty is entirely consistent with Mr. Dunham's generally clouded memory and physical defects arising not only from his stroke but from the serious injuries resulting from the accident (R. 19, 28). Again the trial court had the opportunity to hear the testimony and to evaluate the weight and accuracy thereof. Certainly

such frankness is not indicative of an intent by Mr. Dunham to falsify the execution date of the deed. It is for the trial court to draw the inferences from the testimony and it is not for appellant nor for the writer here to attempt to negative the inferences so drawn.

Is it fair and reasonable to now state that the above separately stated matters from 1 to 8, are "badges of fraud"? Is not each circumstance susceptible of a reasonable inference of rationality, reliability and bona fides? Was not the trial court justified in inferring from these facts that the deed had been executed on November 1, 1952?

None of the inferences drawn by appellant from the foregoing facts even remotely negative the unquestionable execution of the deed. There is reasonable justification for all these matters, completely untainted with fraud.

#### B. STATUTORY PROVISIONS RELATING TO FRAUD.

At Page 19 of appellant's brief, appellant assumes as a matter of argument that the deed was executed on November 1, 1952, and then contends that notwithstanding said execution, there is actual fraudulent intent which brings the conveyance under Section 25-1-7, *Utah Code Annotated*, 1953. It is clear that said section requires "actual intent . . . to defraud either present or future creditors . . ." This section prohibits the finding of intent based upon a presumption. Appellant, however, although he calls this actual intent, is suggesting by innuendo and inference a fraudulent scheme on the part of the re-

spondents. Certainly there can be no suggestion from the evidence, or any reason for such a suggestion, that fraud was intended against any present creditors on November 1, 1952. There simply were no present creditors at that time, other than a few minor current bills owed by Leoda Dunham (R. 136, 137). The note and mortgage in favor of the bank was admittedly in existence, but ample security existed to cover the obligation and such a creditor under the circumstances could hardly be classed as a present creditor of George Dunham (R. 141). The various conveyances from time to time and the payment to the bank of the proceeds therefrom certainly indicate nothing by way of insolvency or fraudulent intent against present creditors. Mr. Dunham's ill health was and is the reason for the execution of the deed November 1, 1952.

Furthermore, there is no evidence whatsoever indicating the possibility or probability of future creditors on November 1, 1952. The accident very obviously was not anticipated. Mrs. Dunham had been operating Camp Kilcare for several years, had applied the proceeds from the business to pay off the mortgage and to pay the current expenses. There is absolutely no factual basis for argument that there was actual intent to defraud any future creditors. It would seem quite elementary in showing actual intent to defraud that the defrauding party have at least some suspicion or anticipation of the existence of some future creditors who would be subjected to the fraud; or some scheme to defraud future



creditors generally. Such a showing is manifestly lacking in this case.

This general rule is stated in 24 *Am. Jur.* 285:

“Whereas the familiar indicia or badges of fraud may in many instances be relied on by an existing creditor as establishing a case for the granting of relief, it is not sufficient for the subsequent creditor to make out a case of merely constructive fraud, founded on such facts as lack of consideration or insolvency on the part of the transferer; he must establish fraud in fact or actual fraud, and he must assume the burden of proof in this respect.”

Appellant further cites as evidence of the actual intent to defraud, the various “badges of fraud” hereinbefore discussed and from these facts attempts to infer actual intent. This inference the trial court did not find and such inferences could not support a finding of actual intent, in any event.

Appellant cites Section 25-1-4 and charges that a conveyance under this section rendering the person insolvent is a fraudulent conveyance. There is no evidence in this case to indicate the insolvency of Mr. Dunham in November of 1952. Mrs. Dunham testified that George had no debts. The record does show, however, a mortgage. It would be strange indeed were we to say that a mortgagor renders himself insolvent when he conveys property encumbered by a mortgage by reason of fact that the mortgage note still remains in his name. Such a conception of the law of insolvency completely ignores the purpose of a mortgage and the place that the security

takes in the foreclosure of the mortgage indebtedness. The property was more than adequate security for the mortgage as is evident by comparing the original purchase price with the amounts of the mortgages. There is no evidence to indicate a possible deficiency against the defendant, George Dunham. As a matter of fact, all conveyances of the property in the various parcels resulted in payments on the mortgage and Leoda Dunham herself made mortgage payments out of the income from the property. Under these facts, wherein lies insolvency?

The matter of consideration is raised in appellant's brief in discussing Section 25-1-4. It is clear that the down payment was made by Leoda Dunham from her own money. It is further clear that the payments on the mortgage, the proceeds of which were used to pay the Kirkpatrick contract, all came from the income from Camp KilKare and from the sales of portions of the land.

In the case of *Schreyer v. Scott*, 134 U. S. 955, a case on all four's with the present one, the United States Supreme Court held that where the original consideration is paid by one spouse and the balance of the contract payments are from the proceeds realized from the property, the full consideration is determined to be that of the spouse contributing the down payment and the other person has no interest in the property. The court further held that under these facts, a conveyance from the husband to the wife of his legal interest, whatever it may be, is supported by consideration. See also *Horbach v. Hill*, 112 U.S. 144; *McDonald v. Dewey*, 202 U.S. 529; *Lumpkin v. McPhee*, 286 P.2d 299 (N. Mex.).

There was no evidence in this case indicating that these payments were not made as testified to and it is difficult to infer from this evidence that there was no consideration. The trial court did not make such a finding and if this court now so holds, it would be to disregard the well accepted principle of law that all inferences arising from the evidence must be construed in favor of the trial court's Findings of Fact.

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